### FILED 12/24/14 Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington

NO. 72323-5-I

# COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CHARLES L. KIMZEY,

Respondent,

٧.

# DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellant.

### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

KAYLYNN WHAT Assistant Attorney General WSBA No. 43442 Office Id. No. 91022 Labor and Industries Division 7141 Cleanwater Drive SW PO Box 40121 Olympia, WA 98504-0121 (360) 586-7719

###

#### I. INTRODUCTION

The Legislature has decided that the type of workers' compensation claim that Charles Kimzey pursues "[does] not fall within" coverage of the Industrial Insurance Act. RCW 51.08.142. The Act provides two avenues for coverage: (1) for industrial injuries, which occur at a fixed point in time, and (2) for occupational diseases, which develop from workplace exposure over time. A mental health claim can be allowed as an industrial injury if the condition results from a single traumatic event, rather than from a series of events over a period of time. But, by statute, claims for mental health conditions caused by stress are specifically excluded from coverage as occupational diseases under the Act. RCW 51.08.142. This distinction is dispositive: mental health claims caused by one traumatic event may be allowed as industrial injuries but mental health claims caused by a series of stressful events over time may not be allowed as occupational diseases.

Here, claimant Charles Kimzey and his expert medical witnesses agree that his mental health condition, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), was caused by an accumulation of stressful events over time through his work as a paramedic, not by any one, single, event. It therefore does not qualify for coverage under the Act as either an occupational disease or an industrial injury. The superior court expressly

found that Kimzey's PTSD was an occupational disease caused by an accumulation of events over the course of his career rather than the product of a single traumatic injury, and, therefore, it erred as a matter of law when it allowed Kimzey's claim. This Court should reverse.

#### II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The superior court erred in Finding of Fact 1.1, which determined that Kimzey sustained an occupational disease, namely, PTSD. CP 238.
- The superior court erred in Finding of Fact 1.2, which determined that the findings and conclusions of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals were rebutted by a preponderance of the evidence. CP 238.
- The superior court erred in Conclusion of Law 2.2, which determined that Kimzey's PTSD is an occupational disease. CP 238.
- The superior court erred in Conclusion of Law 2.3, which determined Kimzey is entitled to coverage under the Industrial Insurance Act. CP 238.
- The superior court erred in Conclusion of Law 2.4 which determined that the findings and conclusions of the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals had been rebutted by Kimzey by a preponderance of the evidence. CP 238.
- The superior court erred when it awarded attorney fees and costs to Kimzey. CP 239.

#### III. ISSUES

 Did the superior court err in allowing Kimzey's PTSD as an occupational disease, when RCW 51.08.142 and WAC 296-14-300 exclude coverage of mental health conditions caused by ongoing workplace exposure to stress as occupational diseases, and when the undisputed evidence shows that Kimzey's PTSD was caused by ongoing, stressful, workplace exposure?

2. Did the trial court err in awarding attorney fees for work at the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals and the Department when RCW 51.52.130 provides attorney fees for court work only?

### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Claims for Mental Health Conditions Caused by Stress Have Been Precluded as Occupational Diseases by Statute and Rule Since 1988

In 1988, the Legislature directed the Department to "adopt a rule pursuant to chapter 34.04 RCW that claims based on mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by stress do not fall within the definition of occupational diseases in RCW 51.08.140." Laws of 1988, ch. 161, § 16. This direction was codified at RCW 51.08.142. The Department complied with this directive by adopting WAC 296-14-300, which was filed on June 24, 1988. WSR 88-14-011. The rule complies with the legislative directive: "Claims based on mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by stress do not fall within the definition of an occupational disease in RCW 51.08.140." WAC 296-14-300(1). The rule goes on to list examples of the causes of such mental conditions or disabilities that do not fall within the definition of occupational disease:

Examples of mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by stress that do not fall within occupational disease shall include, but are not limited to, those conditions and disabilities resulting from:

- (a) Change of employment duties;
- (b) Conflicts with a supervisor;
- (c) Actual or perceived threat of loss of a job, demotion, or disciplinary action;
- (d) Relationships with supervisors, coworkers, or the public;
- (e) Specific or general job dissatisfaction;
- (f) Work load pressures;
- (g) Subjective perceptions of employment conditions or environment;
- (h) Loss of job or demotion for whatever reason;
- (i) Fear of exposure to chemicals, radiation biohazards, or other perceived hazards;
- (j) Objective or subjective stresses of employment;
- (k) Personnel decisions;
- (l) Actual, perceived, or anticipated financial reversals or difficulties occurring to the businesses of self-employed individuals or corporate officers.

WAC 296-14-300(1). The rule also clarifies that "stress resulting from exposure to a single traumatic event will be adjudicated with reference to RCW 51.08.100," as an industrial injury. WAC 296-14-300(2).

# B. Relying on RCW 51.08.142, the Department Denied Kimzey's Claim for Coverage of His Mental Health Condition

Kimzey filed a claim for benefits that was dated July 5, 2012, by his doctor. BR Ex. 1 (Report of Industrial Injury or Occupational

Disease). The diagnoses listed were post-traumatic stress disorder and major depression, probably caused by workplace exposure. BR Ex. 1. In his description of the injury or exposure, Kimzey wrote "Accumulative critical incident exposures." BR Ex. 1. No date of injury was provided. BR Ex. 1.

The Department sent Kimzey a questionnaire seeking further information regarding the nature of his claim. BR Ex. 2. Kimzey checked the box stating his injury occurred at a specific time and place, but, when providing the date of that specific injury, he wrote "During multiple critical incidents over 25 year career." BR Ex. 2. The body part injured was listed as "my psyche" and physical complaints were provided. BR Ex. 2. He checked a box stating that the symptoms came on gradually, and he listed as the cause of his symptoms, "[r]epeated exposure to some pretty horrific incidents," which occurred over his 25-year career. BR Ex. 2. The Department rejected Kimzey's claim, explaining that claims based on mental conditions caused by stress are specifically excluded from coverage by law. BR 30.

Kimzey appealed the denial of his claim to the Board of Industrial

Insurance Appeals. Along with his own testimony, he presented the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citations to the Certified Appeal Board Record are provided as "BR" followed by the bates-stamped page number, or, if to testimony, by the name of the witness and page number of the relevant transcript.

testimony of various co-workers and two medical health professionals. Kimzey described some of the calls he had responded to, but never identified any specific event that was troubling him. *E.g.* BR Kimzey 107, 109 (no particular event was the triggering event of illness), 126-27 (describing concern over child with severe allergies but no specific instance identified), 129 (no recollection of specific fatalities while working on Vashon Island). His coworkers testified that Kimzey had some fear of managing airways, and identified an event where Kimzey performed an intubation poorly, but Kimzey did not recall this event. BR Warren 26, 31; BR Brownell 68, 73; BR Kimzey 108-09.

Dr. Gary Koch, the doctor who signed the Report, testified that Kimzey's PTSD was caused by the accumulation of stressful events at work. BR Ex. 1, Koch 7-8, 18. He did not identify any one, particular, event as the cause of Kimzey's condition. BR Koch 12, 18-19. Rather, Dr. Koch assumed there were multiple events, and did not recall Kimzey ever going into detail about any specific events. BR Koch 12.

Rachel Burgett, an advanced registered nurse practitioner who is licensed to treat psychiatric issues and is Kimzey's treating provider for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Although Kimzey has not claimed this event was an industrial injury, the oneyear statute of limitations for industrial injuries would preclude such a claim. RCW 51.28.050. This event took place more than one year before Kimzey's workers' compensation claim application. *See* BR Brownell 69-70, 91; BR Kimzey 121. This is discussed further in Part.VI.A.3.

these conditions, explained the basis for her diagnosis of Kimzey's PTSD and depressive disorder. BR Burgett 11-12, 21, 26. Like Dr. Koch, she also testified that Kimzey's mental health conditions were caused by the cumulative effects of his experiences at work. BR Burgett 11, 13, 14, 22, 29, 32, 33. Nurse Burgett repeatedly denied that there was a specific event that caused Kimzey's symptoms and frequently reiterated her opinion that his condition was caused by the buildup of events over time. BR Burgett 11-12, 13, 22, 29.

The hearing judge affirmed the Department's denial of Kimzey's claim, concluding that the evidence showed that Kimzey's claim could not be allowed under RCW 51.08.142 and WAC 296-14-300 because his own medical witnesses established that it was caused by cumulative exposure to stresses at work rather than a specific injurious event. BR 15. Kimzey sought review, but this was denied, so the hearing judge's determination became the decision of the Board. BR 1; RCW 51.52.106, .110.

# C. After the Board Affirmed the Department's Order, Kimzey Appealed to Superior Court

Kimzey appealed to superior court and requested a jury. CP 19-20. The Department moved to strike the jury, which was eventually granted, because the case presents an issue of law, not fact. CP 108-09. After a bench trial, the trial court delivered an oral ruling, determining that

Kimzey sustained an occupational disease, PTSD. RP 5. It determined the condition was proximately caused by the cumulative effects of trauma in Kimzey's work as a paramedic. RP 6. The trial court said that Kimzey became symptomatic of a disease after "dealing with traumatic events, life and death situations that were stressful to him." RP 6. It believed that the disease would be "in the nature of a trauma." RP 6. And the trial court decided that Kimzey's condition represented an occupational disease that was not foreclosed by RCW 51.08.142. RP 7. In the trial court's opinion that statute, drafted in 1988, needed "to be looked at in light of all our experience here in the last 10 years . . . with regard to our Middle Eastern wars." RP 8. This oral ruling was distilled into the judgment on appeal here where the trial court found that "In the course of his work as a paramedic in dealing with traumatic incidents and the life and death situations that were stressful to him, Charles Kimzey became symptomatic of PTSD, a disease caused by trauma." CP 238.

Following the trial, Kimzey requested and was awarded attorney fees. The Department acknowledged that Kimzey would be entitled to some fees, pursuant to statute, when and if the medical aid fund is affected, for services performed before superior court. CP 150-62; RCW 51.52.130. The superior court trial was handled by attorney Tim Friedman, who requested payment for 34.4 hours of work. CP 128-49.

By letter, and without any findings of fact or conclusions of law, the court awarded him 34 hours. CP Supp. Ron Meyers, who handled the matter before it became a superior court proceeding, requested 84.30 hours, which includes work performed at the Board and the Department. CP Supp. The court allowed him 66 hours. CP Supp. The total award was for \$36,600, payable when or if the medical aid fund is effected. CP Supp. The Department requested and was granted a stay on the judgment. Stay Order, September 8, 2014.

### V. STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an industrial insurance case, it is the decision of the trial court that the appellate court reviews, not the Board decision. See Rogers v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 151 Wn. App. 174, 179-81, 210 P.3d 355 (2009). The ordinary standard of civil review applies to this Court's review of the superior court's decision. RCW 51.52.140 ("Appeal shall lie from the judgment of the superior court as in other civil cases."); Rogers, 151 Wn. App. at 179-81. Questions of law are reviewed de novo. Williams v. Tilaye, 174 Wn.2d 57, 61, 272 P.3d 235 (2012).

Rules are reviewed just as statutes are and the same rules of construction apply. *Overlake Hosp. Ass'n v. Dep't of Health*, 170 Wn.2d 43, 51-52, 239 P.3d 1095 (2010). An agency's interpretation of a statute is given great deference when that agency is charged with its

administration. PT Air Watchers v. Dep't of Ecology, 179 Wn.2d 919, 925, 319 P.2d 23 (2014) (quoting Port of Seattle v. Pollution Control Hearings Bd., 151 Wn.2d 568, 593, 90 P.3d 659 (2004)).

The Department assigns error to two findings of fact because they are in fact conclusions of law. Assignments of Error 1 (finding Kimzey sustained an occupational disease), 2 (finding the Board's findings and conclusions were rebutted by a preponderance of the evidence). When a conclusion of law is mistakenly characterized as a finding of fact, it is subject to de novo review. *In re Welfare of L.N.B.-L.*, 157 Wn. App. 215, 244, 237 P.3d 944 (2010).

#### VI. ARGUMENT

A. Under RCW 51.08.142 and WAC 296-14-300, Occupational Disease Claims Based on Exposure to Stressful Workplace Conditions Are Excluded From Coverage as a Matter of Law

Under the plain language of RCW 51.08,142 and WAC 296-14-300, Kimzey's claim must be rejected as a matter of law because he seeks coverage for an occupational disease that resulted from ongoing exposure to stressful workplace conditions. While the Department does not dispute that Kimzey's working environment was intensely stressful, or that his exposure to that job stress caused him to develop PTSD, coverage for claims of that type does not exist under the Industrial Insurance Act.

For coverage under the Act, a claim must qualify as either an injury or an occupational disease. Wheeler v. Catholic Archdiocese of Seattle, 65 Wn. App. 552, 566, 829 P.2d 196 (1992), rev'd on other grounds by 124 Wn.2d 634 (1994) A mental health claim may be accepted under the Act if it was caused by an injury, that is, a single traumatic event, but a mental health claim may not be accepted as an occupational disease if it is caused by exposure to stress and develops over time. WAC 296-14-300. Here, the evidence undisputedly shows, as the superior court found (CP 238), that Kimzey developed PTSD as a result of ongoing workplace exposure, not as a result of any one incident that constitutes an industrial injury, and, therefore, the superior court erred as a matter of law when it allowed Kimzey's claim as an occupational disease. This Court should reverse that decision.

1. RCW 51.08.142 Unambiguously Excludes Mental Conditions Caused by Cumulative Workplace Stress from Coverage as Occupational Diseases

Kimzey's claim for coverage of his PTSD as an occupational disease is foreclosed by statute. The Legislature gave the Department an unambiguous directive when it passed RCW 51.08.142: "The department shall adopt a rule pursuant to chapter 34.05 RCW that claims based on mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by stress do not fall within

the definition of occupational disease in RCW 51.08.140." (Emphasis added). Accordingly, the Department adopted WAC 296-14-300:

1

(1) Claims based on mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by stress do not fall within the definition of an occupational disease in RCW 51.08.140.

Examples of mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by stress that do not fall within occupational disease shall include, but are not limited to, those conditions and disabilities resulting from:

- (a) Change of employment duties;
- (b) Conflicts with a supervisor;
- (c) Actual or perceived threat of loss of a job, demotion, or disciplinary action;
- (d) Relationships with supervisors, coworkers, or the public;
- (e) Specific or general job dissatisfaction;
- (f) Work load pressures;
- (g) Subjective perceptions of employment conditions or environment;
- (h) Loss of job or demotion for whatever reason;
- (i) Fear of exposure to chemicals, radiation biohazards, or other perceived hazards;
- (j) Objective or subjective stresses of employment;
- (k) Personnel decisions;
- (l) Actual, perceived, or anticipated financial reversals or difficulties occurring to the businesses of self-employed individuals or corporate officers
- (2) Stress resulting from exposure to a single traumatic event will be adjudicated with reference to RCW 51.08.100.

(Emphasis added). Properly promulgated rules have the "force and effect of law." Wingert v. Yellow Freight Sys., Inc., 146 Wn.2d 841, 848, 50 P.3d 256 (2002) (internal quotations omitted).

There is no ambiguity in either the statute or the related rule. The goal of statutory interpretation is to discern and implement the Legislature's intent. *Ellensburg Cement Products, Inc. v. Kittitas Cnty.*, 179 Wn.2d 737, 743, 317 P.3d 1037 (2014). In doing so, the court looks first to the plain meaning of the language of the statutes. *Id.* If the plain language of the statute is unambiguous, as here, the court's inquiry is at an end. *Manary v. Anderson*, 176 Wn.2d 342, 352, 292 P.3d 96 (2013).

Here, the legislative intent is clear in the statute. The Legislature excluded mental conditions caused by stress from coverage as occupational diseases. RCW 51.08.142 ("claims based on mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by stress do not fall within the definition of occupational disease in RCW 51.08.140"). Thus, no claim can be allowed for a mental condition that is caused by stress unless that condition can be defined as an industrial injury. An industrial injury is "a sudden and tangible happening, of a traumatic nature, producing an immediate or prompt result, and occurring from without, and such physical conditions as result therefrom." RCW 51.08.100. An injury requires "some identifiable happening, event, cause or occurrence capable of being fixed at some point in time." *Garrett Freightlines, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 45 Wn. App. 335, 342-43, 725 P.2d 463 (1986). Occupational diseases, by contrast, are caused by the conditions of

employment over time. *Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 109 Wn. 2d 467, 481, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987).

Kimzey's condition was caused over time; no identifiable event was identified as the cause. Nurse Burgett, Kimzey's attending provider, consistently testified that in her opinion, Kimzey's condition was caused by numerous events over time. When asked where the PTSD was coming from, she answered "Clearly from the cumulative effects of trauma in his work environment." BR Burgett 11. In discussing a study of PTSD in firefighters and paramedics, where 22 percent had a diagnosis of PTSD, Nurse Burgett testified that both the study and the general belief is that PTSD is caused by "a cumulation of events over a career. The longer the career, the more likely that it's going to happen." BR Burgett 27. When asked whether some of the specific events Kimzey described to her could be the cause of his PTSD, Nurse Burgett again stated "I don't think any one incident alone would be the cause. Again, I think it is the cumulation of events." BR Burgett 29. Dr. Koch, the doctor who submitted Kimzey's claim, also testified that Kimzey's condition was caused by the cumulative stresses of his employment. BR Koch 8, 18. Both testifying medical witnesses' opinions support the determination that Kimzey's PTSD was caused by exposure over time, rather than by a particular event.

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