No. 72323-5-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

CHARLES L. KIMZEY,

Respondent,

v.

THE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellants.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Ron Meyers WSBA No. 13169 Matthew Johnson WSBA No. 37597 Tim Friedman WSBA No. 37983 Attorneys for Respondent Charles L. Kimzey

> Ron Meyers & Associates, PLLC 8765 Tallon Ln. NE, Suite A Lacey, WA 98516 (360) 459-5600

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

IV. ARGUMENT

Standard of Review.

1. Superior Court

In an appeal of a BIIA decision, the superior court holds a de novo hearing but does not hear any evidence of testimony other than that included in the BIIA records. RCW 51.52.115. The findings and decisions of the Board are prima facie correct and the burden of proof is on the party

challenging them. RCW 51.52.115.

2. Court of Appeals

For claims under the Industrial Insurance Act, "review is limited to examination of the record to see whether substantial evidence supports the findings made after the superior court's *de novo* review, and whether the court's conclusion of law flow from the findings." *Young v. Dept. of Labor & Indus.*, 81 Wn. App. 123, 128, 913 P.2d 402 (1996) (citations omitted). *See also Ruse v. Dept. of Labor & Indus.*, 138 Wn.2d 1, 5-6, 977 P.2d 570 (1999).

- B. Trauma was the cause of paramedic Kimzey's Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. The Department's attempt to label the cause as stress, at the exclusion of trauma, is not supported by the record, nor by the law that there can be more than one proximate cause of a disease.
 - 1. RCW 51.08.142 and WAC 296-14-300 do not exclude or even address mental conditions or diseases caused by the accumulation of workplace trauma and are incorrectly relied upon by the Department in this case.

Claims based on mental conditions or mental disabilities caused by the accumulation of workplace trauma are <u>not</u> excluded from the definition of "occupational disease" by WAC 296-14-300. Rather, WAC 296-14-300(1) refers to mental conditions or disabilities "caused by stress" – not trauma. WAC 296-14-300(2) refers to stress, which results from a single traumatic event – Mr. Kimzey had PTSD resulting from the *cumulative*

effects of trauma.

Further, even if *stress* was a cause of a claim based on mental conditions or mental disabilities, the mental condition or disability is not excluded from the definition of "occupational disease" if *trauma* was also a cause.

There may be one or more proximate causes of a condition. For a worker to be entitled to benefits under the Industrial Insurance Act, the work conditions must be a proximate cause of the alleged condition for which entitlement to benefits is sought. The law does not require that the work conditions be the sole proximate cause of such condition. WPI 155.06.01 - Proximate Cause - Rejected Claim.

Even if the disease was caused by the combined effects of trauma and stress, the Court in *Wendt v. Department of Labor and Industries* held that it is error not to give an instruction on multiple proximate causes when there is evidence to support a theory that the disability resulted from the combined effects of the industrial injury and other unrelated conditions. SEE *Wendt v. Department of Labor and Industries*, 18 Wn. App. 674, 571 P.2d 229 (1977).

Further, whether or not paramedic Kimzey's PTSD was caused by a single workplace trauma or an accumulation of workplace trauma, both fit within the definition of occupational *disease* and are not excluded by WAC 296-14-300. "Occupational Disease" is defined by RCW 51.08.140 as follows:

"Occupational disease" means such disease or infection as arises naturally and proximately out of employment under the mandatory or elective adoption provisions of this title.

The legislature did not narrow the scope of an "occupational disease" to only a disease caused by a sudden and tangible happening or a single event. Rather, on occupational *disease* need only arise naturally and proximately out of employment. Mental conditions or disabilities where trauma was <u>a</u> cause, are occupational diseases regardless of whether they were from a single event or an accumulation of traumatic events, so long as the disease arises naturally and proximately out of employment.

In this case, by the Department's own admission, paramedic Kimzey developed post-traumatic stress disorder and depression caused by his work as paramedic with Vashon Fire & Rescue. CP 32. (Dept's Trial Brief). Further, the Department admitted that,

"He developed post-traumatic stress disorder and depression due to his work as a paramedic. Both of Mr. Kimzey's medical witnesses agreed that his conditions were caused by the cumulative effects of trauma in his work environment... The Department does not dispute that Mr. Kimzey has the conditions alleged or that these conditions were caused by his work as a paramedic..." CP 50. [emphasis added].

The Superior Court found, correctly, that paramedic Kimzey's posttraumatic stress disorder was an occupational *disease*.

The Department's entire basis for appeal hinges on its insistence that

"workplace stress" caused paramedic Kimzey's PTSD. In its appellate brief, the Department ignores the record - and instead repeatedly uses its own term, "stress," to characterize the cause of paramedic Kimzey's PTSD. However, as will be discussed under subsection 2 below and as discussed in the above Statement of the Case, the record before the Superior Court shows that paramedic Kimzey's mental disease was caused by caused by accumulation of workplace <u>trauma</u>.

The Department's interpretation of the Industrial Insurance Act undermines the policy of the Industrial Insurance Act as well as the Supreme Court's directive in how to construe the Act. The legislature mandated that the Act, that is, Title 51,

"shall be liberally construed for the purpose of reducing to a minimum the suffering and economic loss arising from injuries and/or death occurring in the course of employment." RCW 51.12.010.

The above policy was echoed by the Washington Supreme Court,

"It has been repeatedly stated by this court that the Workmen's Compensation Act is highly remedial in character and, as such, is to be liberally construed with a view to the accomplishment of its beneficent purposes." Hastings v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 24 Wash. 2d 1, 12, 163 P.2d 142 (1945). Citing State ex rel. Crabb v. Olinger, 196 Wash. 308, 82 P.2d 865; Campbell v. Department of Labor and Industries, 2 Wash.2d 173, 97 P.2d 642; Nelson v. Department of Labor and Industries, 9 Wash.2d 621, 115 P.2d 1014; Berry v. Department of Labor and Industries, 11 Wash.2d 154, 118 P.2d 785, 140 A.L.R. 392.

This Court has furthered this strong public policy favoring injured workers by holding that when construing the Act, all doubts be resolved in favor of the injured worker.

"To this end, the guiding principle in construing provisions of the Industrial Insurance Act is that the Act is remedial in nature and is to be liberally construed in order to achieve its purpose of providing compensation to all covered employees injured in their employment, with doubts resolved in favor of the worker." Dennis v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. of State of Wash., 109 Wash. 2d 467, 470, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987). [emphasis added].

It is the Department that attempts to create ambiguity in the law, by claiming that a mental disease caused by accumulation of workplace trauma fits within the exclusion of WAC 296-14-300. It does not. WAC 296-14-300 does not exclude mental conditions or diseases caused by accumulation of workplace trauma. WAC 296-14-300(1)only refers to diseases caused by stress. Even WAC 296-300-14(2) refers to stress, and addresses only stress from a single event. Mr. Kimzey's PTSD was caused by an accumulation of trauma. Even if stress was a symptom, it would be a symptom of the disease, but the disease itself is the result of the cumulative effects of workplace trauma. Regardless, when defining PTSD, expert Burgett outlined the cluster of symptoms included in PTSD, and stress was not even listed:

Post-traumatic stress disorder is a cluster of symptoms defined by the DSM-IV which **generally results from** specific trauma in where there is a potential for harm to the

person or the person is involved in the harm or the death or dismemberment of other people. And the cluster of symptoms includes avoidance, severe anxiety, reexperiencing of the trauma, nightmares, easy startle reflex, inability to face situations similar to the trauma. CABR Depositions Burgett 26:10-18.

The Department attempts to avoid the mandate to construe the Act liberally with all doubts in favor of the injured worker by arguing that the law is unambiguous. This is an unsustainable position. Any argument that the law is unambiguous would fall *in favor of Mr. Kimzey*, as RCW 51.08.142 and WAC 296-14-300 does not even address, let alone exclude, mental conditions caused by the accumulation of workplace trauma. In this case, the evidence established and the Court found that Mr. Kimzey's mental disease was caused by the cumulative effects of workplace trauma.

The Department attempts to inject into RCW 51.08.142 and WAC 296-14-300 an exclusion for cumulative-trauma-caused diseases, when RCW 51.08.142 and WAC 296-14-300 have no such exclusion. Even if there is ambiguity in RCW 51.08.142 and WAC 296-14-300, the Act is to be construed liberally, and the Washington State Supreme Court has directed that any doubt is to be ruled in the injured worker's favor.

2. The Record in This Case Establishes the Cause of Mr. Kimzey's workplace PTSD as TRAUMA.

The Superior Court correctly found that paramedic Kimzey's PTSD

was an occupational *disease* – as it was caused by the cumulative effects of workplace *trauma*. (opposed to an occupational injury or a disease caused by stress). This was consistent with the record. Superior Court Judge Mertel stated:

"...it's a conclusion of this Court based on this record and the medical testimony, that - now I'm looking at nurse Burgett's testimony specifically, that this condition, the occupational disease we've defined as PTSD, arose, was caused by, proximately caused by the cumulative affects of trauma in his very unique work environment..." VRP 5-6.

... the court would have to find – does find that Mr. Kimzey, over his career in dealing with **traumatic events**, life and death situations that were stressful to him, at some point in the process became symptomatic of a disease, which the Court would find, would hold, to be in the nature of a trauma." VRP 6.

In his employment, Mr. Kimzey was exposed to the trauma of dead children, nursing home fatalities, child anaphylaxis, life support calls, sick and cardiac patients, calls that necessitated airlifting patients. CP 104:12-24; 121:22-23; 107:23-25; 109:14-26; 110:1-4; 110: 8-12; CABR Depositions Burgett 12-13; 23:3-10; 23:18-24. Mr. Kimzey has even had to cut a throat, which turned out unsuccessful. CABR Testimony Kimzey 109.

Paramedic Kimzey's work experiences were not the "workplace stress" contemplated by the examples given by the legislature in WAC 296-

14-300 (i.e. change of employment duties, conflict with a supervisor, ... personnel decisions etc. . .) Rather, paramedic Kimzey was repeatedly exposed to life-and-death emergency situations of a traumatic nature and emergency responses involving child-anaphylaxis where the concern is the child's airway closing up, and responses where child-intubation occurs (not always successfully). See Statement of Case, above.

The Department cites appellate cases, such as *Rothwell v. Nine Mile Falls Sch. Dist*, but the overriding fact in Mr. Kimzey's case, supported by the record before the Superior Court, is that *his* PTSD was caused by workplace *trauma* – not stress. Mental health expert Burgett's testimony clearly gave the Court overwhelming evidence that *trauma* caused Mr. Kimzey's disease. The Superior Court relies exclusively on the certified board record. *Cantu v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 168 Wash. App. 14, 20, 277 P.3d 685, 689 (2012). The Department failed to call its own medical experts to opine that "stress" caused his PTSD rather than accumulation of workplace trauma. The Department failed to call its own medical experts to rebut expert Burgett's explanation of PTSD, where she clearly explained that PTSD is caused by trauma (not stress) and where she did not even include "stress" when she listed the symptoms.

Post-traumatic stress disorder is a cluster of symptoms defined by the DSM-IV which generally results from

specific trauma in where there is a potential for harm to the person or the person is involved in the harm or the death or dismemberment of other people. And the cluster of symptoms includes avoidance, severe anxiety, reexperiencing of the trauma, nightmares, easy startle reflex, inability to face situations similar to the trauma. CABR Depositions Burgett 26:10-18.

The Superior Court found that Mr. Kimzey's PTSD arose naturally and proximately from the cumulative effects of workplace *trauma*. CP 238. RCW 51.08.142 and WAC 296-14-300 do not exclude mental conditions or disabilities caused by accumulation of workplace trauma— and in this case paramedic Kimzey's disease was caused by the accumulation of workplace trauma.

The record showed the objective and highly compelling affects to paramedic Kimzey from his traumatic workplace conditions. For example, paramedic Kimzey testified:

Q: Did you ever consider suicide?

A: Yes

Q: Tell us about how far you went in that direction?

A: I loaded my gun. I put two bullets in in case I chickened out on the first round. When I discharged my weapon it shook me out of my grief enough to discharge my remaining round and give my guns to a friend. 116.

Another example of objective results of trauma were the horrible nightmares he would have. He testified that "It would be, I would be having a repeat of

a dead kid call in town..." CABR Testimony Kimzey 114:25-26; 115:1-2.

Dr. Koch's chart note documented paramedic Kimzey's suffering from intrusive graphic visual images, and he testified:

Q: One of the things that you put in your July 5th, 2012 chart note is on the second paragraph, under "Subjective" findings there at the beginning of that chart, you state, "He suffers from many intrusive graphic visual images that have registered over his lengthy career. What are we talking about here Dr.Koch?

A: My interpretation was about work-related scenes he had witnessed, whether they be traumatic scenes, or deaths, or bad situations in general. CABR Depositions Koch 9:9-18.

Another example was the gastrointestinal conditions associated with his work-related PTSD. Specifically, he had projectile vomiting, nausea, diarrhea, and terrible illness. He lost more than 15 pounds.

Mental health expert Burgett was the director of nursing at Crestwood Manor from December, 1988 until March, 1994, which was a long-term psychiatric facility in California. CABR Depositions Burgett 6: 14-20. Expert Burgett was also the patient care supervisor at Harrison Medical Center from August 1996 through December 1998, a short-term psychiatric treatment facility. CABR Depositions Burgett 7: 11-14. Expert Burgett was a psychiatric nurse practitioner at the Washington Correction Center for Women from December 1998 to June, 2004. CABR Depositions Burgett 8. At the time of her perpetuation deposition for this case, Expert Burgett was

a psychiatric mental health nurse practitioner at Abraxas Counseling, which began December, 2008. CABR Depositions Burgett 9: 5-9. Expert Burgett was also paramedic Kimzey's treating psychiatric mental health nurse practitioner. CABR Depositions Burgett 9: 21-24.

The Department did not present any testimony in its case-in-chief to rebut mental health expert Burgett's testimony that paramedic Kimzey's PTSD was caused by caused by trauma. To that end, expert Burgett, testified:

Q: Looking at the first sentence under your Discussions, Recommendations and Treatment Plan, where did you think the post-traumatic stress disorder was coming from?

A: <u>Clearly</u> from the cumulative effects of <u>trauma</u> in his work environment. CABR Depositions Burgett 11:18-22.

Expert Burgett testified that for paramedic Kimzey, the most troubling events involved children. CABR Depositions Burgett 12:2. She then testified:

Q: And Is it unusual for firefighter paramedics to have issues dealing with sick or dying children?

A: It is not unusual. In fact, there has been a body of research that shows that EMTs and paramedics and firefighters dealing with children is one of the more significant <u>traumatic</u> events in their career. CABR Depositions Burgett 12:4-9.

She further testified: "He had some significant gastrointestinal complaints, such as nausea, vomiting, diarrhea, generally precipitating thoughts of going to work or reminders of <u>traumatic</u> events that he had experienced." CABR

Depositions Burgett 12:10-18. Referring to paramedic Kimzey, expert Burgett testified,

The majority of events which involved any kind of <u>trauma</u> or death, dismemberment, would have been a factor in the buildup of his symptoms... CABR Depositions Burgett 23:6-8.

She also testified:

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